

Energy Storage Requirements for Achieving 50% Solar Photovoltaic Energy Penetration in California

Paul Denholm and Robert Margolis National Renewable Energy Laboratory

NREL is a national laboratory of the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Technical Report NREL/TP-6A20-66595 August 2016

Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308



Energy Storage Requirements for Achieving 50% Solar Photovoltaic Energy Penetration in California

Paul Denholm and Robert Margolis National Renewable Energy Laboratory

Prepared under Task No. TM13.1514

NREL is a national laboratory of the U.S. Department of Energy Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy Operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

National Renewable Energy Laboratory 15013 Denver West Parkway Golden, CO 80401 303-275-3000 • www.nrel.gov **Technical Report** NREL/TP-6A20-66595 August 2016

Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308

NOTICE

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States government. Neither the United States government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States government or any agency thereof.

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Available electronically at SciTech Connect http://www.osti.gov/scitech

Available for a processing fee to U.S. Department of Energy and its contractors, in paper, from:

U.S. Department of Energy Office of Scientific and Technical Information P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-0062 OSTI <u>http://www.osti.gov</u> Phone: 865.576.8401 Fax: 865.576.5728 Email: <u>reports@osti.gov</u>

Available for sale to the public, in paper, from:

U.S. Department of Commerce National Technical Information Service 5301 Shawnee Road Alexandria, VA 22312 NTIS <u>http://www.ntis.gov</u> Phone: 800.553.6847 or 703.605.6000 Fax: 703.605.6900 Email: <u>orders@ntis.gov</u>

Cover Photos by Dennis Schroeder: (left to right) NREL 26173, NREL 18302, NREL 19758, NREL 29642, NREL 19795.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Elaine Hale and Brady Stoll for assistance processing and interpreting the demand response data. We also thank the following individuals for knowledgeable input and critical reviews: Paul Basore, Michael Berger, Aaron Bloom, Julie Blunden, Laurel Dunn, Bethany Frew, Udi Helman, Becca Jones-Albertus, Ben Kroposki, Thomas Jenkin, Sarah Kurtz and her PV lunch club, Ookie Ma, Mark Mehos, Barbara O'Neil, Lidija Sekaric, Michael Sohn, and Ryan Wiser. We also thank Mike Meshek, Billy Roberts, and Jarett Zuboy for editing and graphics support. Finally, we gratefully acknowledge funding for this work from the Solar Energy Technologies Office of the U.S. Department of Energy's Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy under contract number DE-AC36-08GO28308.

Executive Summary

The rapidly declining cost of solar photovoltaic (PV) technology in combination with renewable portfolio standards is driving increased PV deployment in California. However, the variability of the solar resource creates uncertainty about the amount of PV that could be deployed without enabling technologies such as energy storage. A key limiting factor for PV deployment is curtailment, or the PV energy that would need to be rejected by system operators due to the supply/demand balance of the system. Most published analyses of high PV penetration in California to date have focused on PV penetration levels up to about 20%–25% on an annual energy basis. In this paper, we go beyond previous analyses by exploring PV penetration levels of up to 50% in California (with renewable penetration over 66%), and we examine the potential role of storage.

Specifically, we examine the amount of storage that may be required to keep PV curtailment to acceptable levels. The amount of curtailment that is acceptable will depend on many factors, and for this analysis, we aim for a target level of curtailment that will keep the incremental cost of additional PV below the estimated variable cost of a combined-cycle generator in 2030, or about seven cents per kilowatt-hour (kWh). An analysis of the role of storage must consider the evolution of the grid and the likely deployment of various flexibility options. Before evaluating storage, we first consider the impact of increased generator flexibility, demand response, exports, and electric vehicles. We find that these measures can greatly increase the potential penetration of PV; however, even a very flexible power system will likely need additional storage to enable 50% penetration of PV.

Another key factor behind storage requirements is the evolving cost of PV. Assuming a target year of 2030, plausible pathways exist for PV to achieve a levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) as low as 3 cents/kWh. This would allow PV to have very high curtailment rates and still achieve a "net-LCOE" goal of 7 cents/kWh. The net LCOE is defined as the cost of energy that can be used by the grid after considering curtailment and storage losses.

We establish a set of low, medium, and high flexibility cases as illustrated in Table ES-1. The minimum generation level represents the amount of generation required from thermal and hydro generators, based on technical and institutional characteristics. One estimate of the current system minimum generation level is about 15 gigawatts (GW). Increased flexibility will be achieved by changing long-term contracts (particularly with combined heat and power plants) as well as gaining experience with daily cycling of thermal generators. Increasing export capacity will largely depend on creating new mechanisms to buy and sell energy on a day-ahead and real-time basis with states surrounding California. The increased demand response cases depend on greater adoption of time-of-use or real-time pricing across a large fraction of electricity consumers. Finally, we consider adoption of as many as 6.4 million electric vehicles, which represents 25% of the California light-duty vehicle fleet, and we assume the majority of these vehicles can be optimally charged to maximize use of mid-day PV generation.

	Low Flexibility	Mid Flexibility	High Flexibility
Minimum generation level (GW)	10	8.75	7.5
Export capacity (GW)	2.5	5	10
Demand response availability (GW peak/avg. daily GWh) ^a	0.4/22	2/10	4/21
EV penetration (% of light-duty vehicles)	5%	15%	25%
Fraction of EVs optimally charged	33%	50%	75%

Table ES-1. Characteristics of Flexibility Scenarios

^a These values represent the peak and average shiftable load during months of highest PV curtailment

Figure ES-1 summarizes the amount of storage needed to achieve 50% penetration of PV while maintaining an incremental net-LCOE goal of 7 cents/kWh for the three flexibility scenarios defined in Table ES-1. The storage is assumed to have 8-hours of discharge capacity with an 80% round-trip efficiency. The x-axis represents the "base" cost of PV, or the LCOE assuming no curtailment.



Figure ES-1. Energy storage required to achieve a marginal net PV LCOE of 7 cents/kWh as a function of base PV LCOE at 50% PV penetration and two levels of grid flexibility

As shown in Figure ES-2, with very low-cost PV (3 cents/kWh) and a highly flexible electric power system, about 19 gigawatts of energy storage could enable 50% PV penetration with a marginal net PV LCOE of 7 cents/kWh, i.e., comparable to the projected variable costs of combined-cycle gas generators in California.

Figure ES-1 shows the significant increase in storage requirements when moving to lower grid flexibility or higher PV costs. Examining the high flexibility case in more detail provides additional insights into the amount of new energy storage capacity needed to support large amounts of PV. Figure ES-2 shows the amount of additional storage (beyond the storage expected to be built by 2020) that would be needed to hit the 7 cents/kWh net-LCOE PV target. It includes the storage capacity needed for both 40% PV and 50% PV. The top bar is the high

flexibility case with the low cost PV (3 cents/kWh). With this highly flexible system, the storage that will be installed by 2020 is sufficient to support 40% PV. To achieve 50% PV would require about 15 GW of additional storage capacity to be built by 2030. We also consider cases where we change two of the more aggressive flexibility assumptions. The second bar reduces the EV penetration from 25% to 5% (or reaching a total EV fleet of 1.3 million vehicles in California by 2030). The third modifies the base case by increasing the base PV LCOE to 5 cents/kWh, which assumes only modest reductions in PV costs beyond those expected by 2020. Finally, we show a case that combines both of these reduced flexibility scenarios. As shown in the fourth bar, if California can substantially increase grid operational flexibility, but not achieve either wide-scale deployment of EVs, or a substantially decreased PV cost, about 10 GW of new storage capacity would be required to achieve 40% PV, and about 28 GW of new storage would be required to achieve 50% PV.



Figure ES-2 Additional energy storage needed to achieve a marginal PV net LCOE of 7 cents/kWh for the high flexibility case and three reduced flexibility cases

The amount of storage needed to support very large amounts of PV might fit within a least-cost framework driven by declining storage costs. In 2014, California had about 22 GW of fossil-fueled peaking capacity, 14 GW of which is more than 25 years old. As this capacity retires, cost-competitive energy storage might be able to replace much of it, enabling greater PV penetration as California moves toward achieving its climate goals.

Table of Contents

1	Introduction	
2	Analysis Methods and Framework	
3	The Impact of Adding Non-Storage Grid-Flexibility Options	
	3.1 Flexible Generation and Reduced Minimum Generation Levels	
	3.2 Exports	
	3.3 Demand Response and Shiftable load	
	3.4 Additional Load from Electric Vehicles	
4	Energy Storage Scenarios	24
5	Discussion and Conclusions	
Re	eferences	

List of Figures

Figure 1. Locations of solar PV capacity	5
Figure 2. Load and theoretical net load profiles for California during two days in the spring (a) and summer (b) where PV provides up to 50% of annual electricity, assuming no PV	
curtailment is required	6
Figure 3. System dispatch on April 9-10 in a scenario with 20% potential annual solar	9
Figure 4. Average and marginal PV curtailment and net LCOE in the base scenario	. 11
Figure 5. Impact of system minimum generation level on curtailment with increasing PV penetration	. 14
Figure 6. Impact of system minimum generation level on marginal net PV LCOE in scenarios with	
increasing PV penetration	. 15
Figure 7. Increase in PV penetration resulting from increased exports	. 16
Figure 8. Hourly curtailment in a system with enough PV to achieve 50% PV with a 7.5 GW system	
minimum generation level and a 5 GW export capacity	. 17
Figure 9. Load reduction potential in the LBNL technical potential resource data set	. 19
Figure 10. Fraction of total hourly and daily load that can be shifted using the LBNL and ORNL techni potential.	ical 19
Figure 11. Impact of added DR on marginal curtailment in scenarios with 20%–40% annual PV	
penetration with two minimum generation level and export capacity scenarios	. 20
Figure 12. EV load profiles associated with uncontrolled charging and average PV output profile	. 21
Figure 13. Impact of charging on load in a scenario with 10% EVs and three different charging profiles April 1	s on 22
Figure 14. Impact of EV charging flexibility on PV penetration and curtailment in a 25% EV scenario	
with a 7.5 GW minimum generation level, 10 GW export capacity, and full DR availabilit	ty23
Figure 15. Relationship between system flexibility, storage capacity, and curtailment	26
Figure 16. Marginal net LCOE as a function of energy storage capacity at 50% PV penetration for each	1
flexibility scenario and two "base" PV costs: 6 cents/kWh and 3 cents/kWh	. 27
Figure 17. Energy storage required to achieve a marginal net PV LCOE of 7 cents/kWh as a function o	of
base PV LCOE at 50% PV penetration and three levels of grid flexibility	. 27
Figure 18. Additional energy storage needed to achieve a marginal PV net LCOE of 7 cents/kWh for the	ne
high flexibility case and three reduced flexibility cases	28

List of Tables

Table 1. California Generation Mix in 2014	3
Table 2. Characteristics of Flexibility Scenarios	24

1 Introduction

The rapidly declining cost of solar photovoltaic (PV) technology in combination with potential constraints on carbon emissions could lead to substantial increases in PV deployment in California in the coming decades. However, the variability of the solar resource creates uncertainty about the amount of PV that could be deployed without enabling technologies such as energy storage. Most published analyses of high PV penetration in California to date have focused on PV penetration levels up to about 20-25% on an annual energy basis. In this paper, we go beyond previous analyses by exploring PV penetration levels of up to 50% in California, with a specific focus on the role of storage.

Several grid-integration studies in the United States have explored large-scale PV deployment, focusing on California and the West (CAISO 2011; E3 2014; Mills and Wiser 2012a; Brinkman et al. 2016; Denholm et al. 2015; Lew et al. 2013; Liu 2014). Though they differ in methodologies employed and renewable portfolios modeled, these studies generally find that significant—but not radical—changes in system operation are required to achieve PV penetrations of 15%–20% while maintaining reliable grid operation and relatively low curtailment. The types of changes required include more generator cycling, greater regional resource sharing, and increased use of demand response and load shifting-but not a significant increase in deployment of energy storage. However, when exploring scenarios with PV penetration beyond 20%–25%, several of these studies (Brinkman et al. 2016; Denholm et al. 2016; Mills and Wiser 2012a; E3 2014) find that substantial increases in curtailment occur due to supply/demand mismatch and limited grid flexibility. By increasing PV's costs or decreasing its value, curtailment makes PV less competitive with alternative low-carbon resources such as wind. At increasing levels of PV deployment (i.e., beyond 25%), increasing levels of curtailment would limit the economic deployment of PV without more aggressive deployment of enabling technologies, including energy storage. However, few assessments have quantified storage requirements for integrating extremely large amounts of PV in California.¹

Several of the analyses of high renewable scenarios in California (where renewables provide 50% or more of annual electricity) have found that a "balanced" portfolio with a greater proportion of wind and other renewable generation reduces curtailment and overall system costs (Brinkman et al. 2016; E3 2014). However, PV costs have already declined more rapidly than projected in these analyses, and they are expected to continue to decline rapidly over the next 10–15 years (DOE 2016; Woodhouse et al. 2016). As a result, more rapid scale-up of PV deployment could be realized than projected in these previous analyses. Here we explicitly explore PV penetrations beyond 25%, and we estimate the energy storage required to enable PV penetrations up to 50% in California, at which point renewable energy sources would provide over 71% of total electricity demand.² We also discuss and quantify the complex relationships

¹ There have been assessments of economic storage required specifically for increased solar penetration or more generally, large-scale deployments of variable generation in various regions of the United States and around the world. Examples include Texas (Denholm and Margolis 2007), Israel (Solomon, Faiman, and Meron 2011), the United States (NREL 2012), and internationally (Safaei and Keith 2015).

² In 2014, California derived about 21% of total electricity from hydro, geothermal, wind, and biomass (CEC 2014). After adjusting for load growth (including electric vehicles as described later), adding 50% from PV (and assuming wind grows to 11%) would achieve about 71% of total electricity from renewable sources, or about 67% from

among energy storage, PV penetration, grid flexibility, and PV costs resulting from increased curtailment.

To provide a consistent framework for illustrating the potential benefits of grid-flexibility strategies and storage with increasing PV penetration, we measure PV costs in terms of net levelized cost of energy (net LCOE), which is defined as the cost of energy that can be used by the grid after considering curtailment. This cost can be compared to alternative resources to provide some indication of relative competiveness of PV at increased penetration. Using this metric does not consider the full costs and benefits of different generation mixes, so a more comprehensive analysis will be needed to completely evaluate the PV scenarios evaluated here. However, the net-LCOE metric we use can help identify a plausible range of scenarios that can be evaluated using detailed production cost and power flow analysis tools. Our methods and framework are described in detail in Section 2. In Section 3, we explore the potential impact of adding non-storage grid-flexibility options. In Section 4, we develop a set of scenarios incorporating energy storage. Finally, in Section 5, we conclude by considering storage requirements in the context of existing peaking generation, and by identifying aspects of energy storage analysis that require additional research.

qualifying renewables. So, the 50% PV scenario described here would be equivalent to achieving a 68% renewable portfolio standard. Note that this assumes no growth in geothermal, CSP, biomass, or small hydro resources.

2 Analysis Methods and Framework

To model the impact of high PV scenarios in California, we use the National Renewable Energy Laboratory's Renewable Energy Flexibility (REFlex) model,³ a reduced-form dispatch model that calculates the supply/demand balance of an electricity system. REFlex performs a chronological dispatch of aggregated thermal and hydro units assuming generator flexibility limits, including ramp rates and minimum generation levels (Denholm and Hand 2011). It also performs chronological dispatch of demand response, energy storage, and vehicle charging to evaluate methods to improve utilization of variable generation resources (Denholm, Kuss and Margolis 2013).

As shown in Table 1 solar penetration in California in 2014 was about 6% (CEC 2014 and GTM and SEIA 2015).⁴

	Annual Generation in 2014	
	(Gigawatt-hours) GWh	Percentage
Biomass	7,507	2.5%
Concentrating solar power (CSP)	1,619	0.5%
Fossil	151,037	50.0%
Geothermal	13,030	4.3%
Large Hydro	16,350	5.4%
Nuclear	25,220	8.4%
PV (Rooftop)	5,115	1.7%
PV (Utility Scale)	10,932	3.6%
Small hydro	2,787	0.9%
Wind	23,913	7.9%
Other (unspecified imports)	44,433	14.7%
Total	301,943	100.0%

Table 1. California Generation Mix in 2014

Sources: GTM and SEIA 2015 for rooftop PV, and CEC 2014 for all other technologies Imports are included in the respective generator category as described in CEC (2014).

³ The National Renewable Energy Laboratory developed REFlex to allow for analysis of large numbers of scenarios with fast solution times but a reasonable level of operational detail. The model allows rapid exploration of the surface space of operations with large amounts of renewables, but it considers only a limited number of aspects of system operation, including supply/demand coincidence, generator flexibility constraints, and the potential interface limits between California and surrounding states. This allows for the 450 yearly simulations described in the results section to be completed in a few hours. Alternatively, a detailed yearly simulation of the California/ Western Electricity Coordinating Council power system with the PLEXOS production cost model requires about seven days, which correspond to about 8.6 years of simulation time on a single machine.

⁴ This estimate is based on 12.6 terawatt-hours (TWh) of utility-scale (PV + CSP) generation (CEC 2014) and 5.1 TWh from rooftop PV (GTM 2015).

To this base mix of generators, we add PV to identify the increasing challenges and the role of storage as PV penetration in California approaches 50%. Hourly load, wind, and solar data are derived from the Low Carbon Grid Study (LCGS), which provides time-synchronized data for consistent modeling (Brinkman et al. 2016). As with LCGS, we use a base year of 2030, where we assume load grows to about 320 terawatt-hours (TWh), with a peak demand of 64.7 GW, which is about 6% higher than 2014 (CEC 2015). Load profiles are scaled from 2006 loads (i.e., weather and demand patterns are assumed to be the same in the future as they were in 2006).⁵ We assume wind generation grows to 35 TWh⁶ (or 11% of total demand before the addition of electric vehicle load) and concentrating solar power (CSP) generation grows to about 3.5 TWh (1% of total demand) based on existing capacity in 2016. We count the contribution of existing CSP toward our PV target; this is because the vast majority of CSP in California does not have thermal storage, so its output profiles are similar to PV's. We fix the amount of annual generation from all other renewable resources at 2014 levels. We then model a series of cases with different grid flexibility assumptions and PV penetrations. Our approach is thus different from most of the studies cited above in that we do not model large mixed renewable portfolios to meet California's renewable portfolio standard (RPS); in contrast, our objective is to isolate the operational impact of solar and its interaction with some mitigating policies and technologies, most notably energy storage

PV profiles were based on a mix of 246 locations throughout California and surrounding states, with 92% of the capacity deployed in California. We also assume about 60% of the PV is utility-scale (with a 60%/40% split between tracking and fixed-tilt systems) and 40% is rooftop systems. Figure 1 shows the distribution of the solar capacity. Solar (and wind) profiles are based on 2006 meteorology to match the 2006 load profiles, and they are derived from LCGS (Brinkman et al. 2016).

⁵ We would expect load shapes to change over time as new appliances and devices are introduced, lighting becomes more efficient, and other changes occur. However, we are unaware of a data set that projects the overall change in load shape in California over time.

⁶ This value is based on scaling the wind values from the 2014 Long-Term Procurement Plan 40% RPS scenario by 25% (Liu 2014). For comparison, in 2014, California met about 8% of the total demand from about 24 TWh of wind generation (both in state and imported) (CEC 2014). Our assumption of 35 TWh results in a wind penetration of about 11% (before the addition of EV load) compared to our assumed demand of 320 TWh. This requires the addition of about 3.3 GW with an average capacity factor of 35%. For our simulations we use hourly generation data from the LCGS study (Brinkman et al. 2016) which assumes a mix of in-state and out-of-state wind generation.



Figure 1. Locations of solar PV capacity

The challenge of integrating large quantities of PV in the California system is illustrated in Figure 2, which shows the simulated net loads (normal load minus contribution from solar), assuming no PV curtailment is required even at very high levels of PV penetration for two 2-day periods (in spring and summer). In these examples, the increasing penetration values represent *potential* annual PV generation without curtailment.



Figure 2. Load and theoretical net load profiles for California during two days in the spring (a) and summer (b) where PV provides up to 50% of annual electricity, assuming no PV curtailment is required

All data in the analysis have been shifted to Pacific Standard Time.

Figure 2 shows extreme changes in net load that are well beyond what can be accommodated in the current power system and fall below zero many days of the year at the highest levels of PV penetration.⁷ The overall ability of the grid to accommodate highly variable demand is based on its flexibility, which is driven by the ability of individual generators to change output to serve variations in electricity demand (Ela et al. 2014).

To model the impact of varying grid flexibility, we start with a base 2030 scenario and a conservative set of grid operational assumptions, including a system-wide minimum generation level of 15 GW. This limit is based on estimates of non-dispatchable capacity in California from the California Independent System Operator (CAISO) in 2014 (Bouillon 2014), but it assumes the Diablo Canyon nuclear power plant is retired before 2030 (PGE 2016). Because these estimates only apply to generators operating within the CAISO balancing area, we add an additional 2,000 MW of non-dispatchable capacity in the non-CAISO areas.⁸ This minimum generation limit is illustrated in Figure 3. Non-dispatchable capacity reflects the limited ability of generators (Lew et al. 2015). Most thermal plants have a maximum ramp rate (the speed at which output can be changed) and ramp range (the difference between minimum and maximum output). The ramp range is limited by the plant's minimum stable operating point, below which the plant cannot run. Because certain plant types cannot be started and stopped quickly, they are forced to remain operating at or above this minimum generation level. In addition, many generators have long-term contracts that create institutional limits to plant cycling.⁹

In addition to the minimum generation constraint, the conservative base case also assumes zero exports of solar generation to surrounding states and no demand shifting.¹⁰ We assume that in the base case, the system has 4,427 MW of storage (3,100 MW of existing pumped storage plus 1,325 MW of storage being deployed under the California storage mandate)¹¹ (CPUC 2013; Eichman et al. 2015), and the average roundtrip storage efficiency to be 80%.¹² While the CPUC storage mandate requires a mix of transmission-, distribution-, and customer-sited storage (CPUC 2013), we also assume that all storage, including behind-the-meter and distributed storage, perform energy shifting, including storing otherwise curtailed PV generation.¹³ Overall, this case largely represents a business-as-usual scenario that assumes essentially no changes in the way the California grid is operated between now and 2030, with the exception of retiring Diablo Canyon and adding the California storage mandate. This example therefore represents a

⁷ In the 50% scenario, the net load is below zero for about 2,200 hours (25%) of the year.

⁸ This estimate was derived by scaling the thermal and hydro minimum generation levels in CAISO to be proportional to the state load. CAISO serves about 80% of the state's annual electricity demand (CAISO 2015).
⁹ While many of these long-term contracts will be renegotiated by 2030, in order to develop a relatively conservative base case, we assume they persist in our base case. We relax this constraint in later scenarios.

¹⁰ The zero export assumption in the base case is based on the fact that California has historically been a net importer, and there are limited market mechanisms to allow California to sell excess renewable energy out of state. Further discussion is provided in Liu (2014a).

¹¹ We assume existing storage has eight hours of storage capacity, which is actually less than much of the existing pumped hydro but more than the storage expected as part of the storage mandate. For a discussion of the storage mandate, including regional allocation of targets, size, and applications, see Eichman et al. (2015).

¹² The CPUC storage mandate applies only to investor-owned utilities, so this value does not include any storage that may be developed by publicly owned utilities.

¹³ This latter assumption is used by the CPUC and CAISO when modeling future grid flexibility, which reflects the expectation that retail rates will be adjusted to reflect the changes in energy value (Eichman et al. 2015)

limiting case used in part to demonstrate the importance and impact of improved flexibility measures that can be implemented.

Figure 3 shows simulation results for two days in the spring (April 9 and 10) under a 20% annual solar scenario (requiring about 31 GW of PV capacity) and base assumptions described above. Figure 3a shows the overall system dispatch including additional detail about the source of the 15 GW minimum generation level, which uses estimates from Bouillon (2014). The black line shows the net load after the contribution from usable solar and wind. In the middle of each day, the amount of wind and solar exceeds what can be accommodated assuming the 15 GW minimum generation level, resulting in "overgeneration" where electricity supply exceeds demand requiring curtailment (CPUC 2015a).

Figure 3b shows the allocation of solar energy during this period of relatively low demand. Without existing storage, about 17% of potential PV generation would be curtailed. Most of the potentially curtailed energy is avoided because of the 4.4 GW of storage, which shifts this generation to the evening peak and reduces curtailment to about 5% on these two days (or about 7% when including storage losses). About 3% of the potential solar energy generation is curtailed during the entire year, which is about 5% when losses due to storage inefficiency are included. ¹⁴ For comparison, simulations by the CAISO in a scenario with 18% PV and with similar assumptions of storage requirements and no exports (but including Diablo Canyon, which adds about 2,000 MW of non-dispatchable generation) estimated a 5.8% curtailment rate (CAISO 2014). Note that we assign all incremental curtailment to PV, as significant curtailment does not occur before the addition of PV, which means it is the added PV that results in curtailment. It is important to note that actual allocation of curtailment among different renewable generation sources (including existing or added generators) will be driven by various factors, including local grid conditions, underlying contractual agreements with suppliers, production tax credits, and other regulatory issues (Bird, Cochran, and Wang 2014).

¹⁴ Because of curtailment and storage losses, to derive 20% of the state's energy from solar, a solar capacity potential equivalent to 21.4% of total energy would be needed, requiring about 2 GW of additional capacity.



(a) System dispatch



(b) Dispatch of solar energy

Figure 3. System dispatch on April 9–10 in a scenario with 20% potential annual solar

Curtailment's impact on PV economics can be measured as reduced PV value. Value declines due to curtailment because each unit of potential PV production no longer displaces one unit of fossil generation. As curtailment increases, the benefits of additional PV may drop to the point where additional installations are not worth the cost, creating an economic limit to deployment (Cochran et al. 2015). Previous studies have demonstrated the decline in PV value and how it can be partially mitigated with improved grid flexibility (including storage) (Mills and Wiser 2012a, 2015).

Curtailment's impact on PV economics can also be measured as increased cost, here translated into "net LCOE," which is defined as the cost of energy that can be used by the grid after considering curtailment. The net LCOE is calculated as follows:

net LCOE = base LCOE/(1 - curtailment rate).

The base LCOE is defined using the "standard" method of calculating LCOE, which assumes all energy produced can be delivered to the grid.¹⁵ As curtailment increases, the net LCOE increases because the investment cost of the PV is divided over fewer units of useful energy. In the base 2030 scenario, with 20% solar, 4.6% of the solar energy is curtailed or lost in storage. Thus if the base PV LCOE in California is 6.0 cents per kilowatt-hour (kWh), this scenario would result in an average net LCOE of 6.3 cents/kWh. Potentially more important than the average curtailment rate and average net LCOE are the marginal curtailment rate and marginal net LCOE. The marginal net LCOE represents the cost of the final small amount of solar added, in this example the last unit of PV needed to achieve 20% solar. In this scenario, the marginal curtailment at 20% solar penetration is about 26% including storage losses. Thus, the net LCOE of 6 cents/kWh. Marginal curtailment rates can indicate the threshold at which PV becomes uncompetitive with alternative resources. If the addition of an alternative resource can provide the same amount of low-carbon energy for less than the marginal net LCOE of PV, then that alternative resource would likely be preferred.

Figure 4a shows the marginal and average curtailment rates of PV as a function of annual energy contribution from PV, using our 2030 base assumptions. Figure 4b translates this into the marginal and average net LCOE of PV assuming a base LCOE of 6 cents/kWh. As shown in the figure, under these assumptions the marginal curtailment rate increases rapidly once PV penetration rises above 20%. Reducing the base LCOE of PV would help, but the shape of the marginal curve in Figure 4b means even very low-cost PV would require additional grid-flexibility measures to achieve penetrations beyond 25%.

¹⁵ For a discussion of the calculation of LCOE, see Gilman et al. (2008).





Figure 4. Average and marginal PV curtailment and net LCOE in the base scenario

When calculating curtailment rates, we do not distinguish between utility-scale and distributed PV. In reality, how curtailment is implemented will depend on a combination of technical and regulatory factors. Technically, curtailment requires having physical control over the operation of the plant. This type of control is readily available for utility-scale systems, but it will require advances in communications and controls to be applied effectively to distributed-generation PV. Substantial consideration by policymakers will also likely be required to establish appropriate rules, rate structures, and compensation mechanisms related to implementing curtailment more broadly in high variable renewable energy scenarios.

3 The Impact of Adding Non-Storage Grid-Flexibility Options

In the previous section, we demonstrated that achieving 50% PV in California is not economically feasible without substantial changes to the existing grid. Energy storage provides a potential solution, but several non-storage flexibility options are also available to system planners and operators (Cochran et al. 2014). Given the relatively high cost of energy storage (especially for long-duration batteries), we first explore the potential contribution of other lower-cost flexibility options. For example, improved forecasting and power system scheduling are likely less expensive than energy storage, and they have already been implemented or are being implemented in the United States and in countries with significant wind and PV penetration (FERC 2012; IEA 2014). CPUC (2015a) discusses many of these options in a California-specific context and describes many of the analytic needs to assess more fully the role of different flexibility options in integrating renewables at substantially increased penetration levels.

Here we specifically discuss four non-storage flexibility options that would impact the amount of storage required to achieve a 50% PV scenario: more flexible generation, exports to neighboring regions, demand response, and schedulable loads from electric vehicles. It should be noted that there are other sources of flexibility not considered here, such as adding concentrating solar power with integrated thermal energy storage.¹⁶ Sections 3.1-3.4 detail each of these flexibility options and their impact on PV curtailment and marginal costs. Section 4 integrates these options into a set of scenarios that evaluate energy storage requirements.

3.1 Flexible Generation and Reduced Minimum Generation Levels

Reducing the minimum generation from conventional generators is essential to integrating solar at levels beyond 20%. As discussed previously, minimum generation constraints are derived from a variety of technical, economic, and institutional factors. For California, we use estimates from Bouillon (2014), who identifies several¹⁷ categories of non-dispatchable plants, and we estimate the minimum generation level for each type (for a total of about 15,000 MW as illustrated in Figure 3):

- 1. Customer-owned cogeneration: ~6,000 MW
- 2. Geothermal: ~1,500 MW
- 3. Non-dispatchable imports: ~2,000 MW
- 4. Small hydro: ~1,500 MW
- 5. Thermal and hydro: ~2,000 MW
- 6. Non-Dispatchable plants outside CAISO: ~2,000 MW.

¹⁶ For example, analysis of CSP in the Western Interconnection found substantial flexibility benefits from both shifting loads via storage and reducing minimum generation constraints by providing very flexible capacity (Denholm and Mehos 2011)

¹⁷ Bouillon (2014) includes the Diablo Canyon nuclear power plant, which we assume is retired by 2030.

Determining the feasibility of gaining additional flexibility from these generators would require a plant-by-plant analysis of hundreds of plants in California and surrounding states. Because many constraints are likely contractual or based on non-technical factors, it is impossible to precisely identify the fleet's minimum generation level. However, it is possible to identify types of generators that can or cannot provide additional flexibility.

First, although geothermal plants can vary output, reducing their output to accommodate PV does not provide significant economic or environmental benefits. Doing so simply replaces one carbon-free source for another, and thus, we do not consider them for reducing system minimum generation levels. Likewise, reducing hydro output to avoid PV curtailment only makes sense if the generation can be shifted to other periods. Many hydro plants have minimum streamflow requirements and so have technical limits on reducing output. However, this leaves over 8,000 MW of potentially dispatchable resources, including co-generation and thermal plants. Customer-owned cogeneration plants are typically used at industrial facilities to provide heat and electricity. They are normally considered non-dispatchable for various reasons including long-term contracts but also because reducing output or turning these plants off would reduce the production of process heat the facility needs. However, low-cost midday PV electricity might incentivize industrial facilities to reduce output, depending of the amount of process heat needed.

Several factors drive thermal plant minimum production levels, including start-stop constraints and the need to keep some plants online to provide reserves or grid-stability services (Hummon et al. 2013a). Reserves are needed to maintain frequency stability (the ability to maintain a constant frequency) and are often provided by partially loaded thermal generators (Kundur et al. 2004). While increased reserves may be needed with increasing PV because of the uncertainty of supply (CAISO 2013), improved variable generation integration practices can reduce these requirements. With more accurate solar forecasts, system operators can ensure adequate generation capacity is available without keeping excessive spare capacity online (spinning), which otherwise contributes to the minimum-generation problem.¹⁸ Furthermore, modern wind and solar plants can provide reserves and help regulate grid frequency, replacing the use of partially loaded thermal generation (GE 2014; Milligan et al. 2015). For PV, this requires operating below full output to provide the upward reserve (Gevorgian and O'Neill 2016).¹⁹ At low penetration, PV's energy value greatly exceeds the value of reserves, so providing reserves via curtailment is not economic. However, at increased penetration, selective PV curtailment for reserves might be economic.²⁰ These strategies—along with the replacement of old conventional generators with new, more flexible technologies—should enable lower minimum generation levels. New gas-fired generation typically can provide significant ramp rates and multiple operating reserves (Venkataraman et al. 2013). Certain new gas-fired combustion turbines and reciprocating engines can start very quickly, and these units could even provide some traditional synchronized (spinning) reserves without being online (Wärtsilä and Energy Exemplar 2014).

¹⁸ As solar forecasts are integrated into market operations (Tuohy et al. 2015), visibility and forecasts of all PV systems—including distributed rooftop PV—will be required (Wu et al. 2015).

¹⁹ Wind can provide inertial response by drawing stored energy from the spinning rotor. Because PV has no such inherent storage, any increase in output must be obtained by employing curtailment (GE 2014).

²⁰ Provision of reserves from PV will require new mechanisms—market incentives, interconnection requirements, or other means—to ensure variable generation can reliably provide the services previously provided by thermal plants (Ela et al. 2014).

Given the uncertainties involved, we examine a range of minimum generation levels. Figure 5 shows curtailment as a function of PV penetration at three different minimum generation levels. The base case is 15 GW, as evaluated in the previous section. The 10 GW case could be achieved from a 50% reduction in minimum generation level from cogeneration plants and the elimination of "must take" contracts with out-of-state generation. The 7.5 GW case represents a further 50% reduction in minimum generation levels from thermal plants, and it represents a case where nearly all fossil generation in the state can be turned off during periods of high solar output. Both of these lower minimum generation scenarios substantially reduce the marginal curtailment rates.



Figure 5. Impact of system minimum generation level on curtailment with increasing PV penetration

Figure 6 shows the resulting marginal net LCOE values. Figure 6a assumes a base (precurtailment) LCOE of 6 cents/kWh, while Figure 6b assumes 3 cents/kWh. A conservative comparison for a future PV net LCOE would be 7 cents/kWh, which is equivalent to the variable cost of operating a combined-cycle gas generator with a fuel price of \$6.2 per million British thermal unit (BTU), a heat rate of 7,500 BTU/kWh, and a social cost of carbon of \$52/ton.²¹ The most aggressive flexibility case achieves this net LCOE at greater than 25% PV penetration. This result follows previous analysis demonstrating that such deployment is possible without huge additions of energy storage or other enabling technologies (Denholm et al. 2016). Increased flexibility and very low-cost PV could achieve penetrations greater than 30%. However, even in the least-expensive-PV and highest-flexibility scenario, the marginal net LCOE increases rapidly beyond 35% PV penetration, so additional measures likely are needed to enable such deployment.

²¹ We compare PV LCOE only to the variable cost of a combined-cycle generator because at high penetration of PV, the marginal capacity credit of PV (ability to offset conventional generation) is approximately zero (Denholm et al. 2016, Mills and Wiser 2012b). The price of natural gas is based on the EIA reference case projections for electric-sector natural gas in 2030 (EIA 2016). The social cost of carbon value is derived from EPA (2015).





Figure 6. Impact of system minimum generation level on marginal net PV LCOE in scenarios with increasing PV penetration

3.2 Exports

Among the significant limitations of the base case is the inability to export energy from California to the rest of the western United States. California is highly connected with its neighbors, with transmission capacity to neighboring states that exceeds 10 GW (CAISO 2015). Expanding the geographical scope of the study beyond California could help achieve the 50% PV scenario by exploiting the spatial diversity of loads and resources. Greater regional interchange could also help address local minimum generation issues by exporting surplus PV generation to surrounding regions and thus reducing curtailment (Nelson and Wisland 2015; Eichman et al. 2015). Exports from California to surrounding regions are limited by physical transmission capacity, institutional and market barriers, and the potentially limited value of exported energy to surrounding regions under high solar penetration scenarios. Because California has historically never been a net exporter, and market mechanisms to allow exports have historically been limited, previous analysis has often limited exports. For example the CAISO LTPP model (40% RPS study) enforced a zero net export constraint (CAISO 2014). The E3 50% RPS study assumed up to 1,500 MW of exports in its base scenario, but evaluated a sensitivity case with up to 6,500 MW of export capacity (E3 2014). Alternatively, the LCGS study assumed new market mechanisms will allow even greater utilization of existing transmission, along with construction of several new lines throughout the Western Interconnection. As a result, the LCGS simulations allowed for exports from California exceeding 10 GW (Brinkman et al. 2016).

The existing western energy imbalance market is currently restricted to real-time energy transactions and is therefore unable to fully capture the opportunities for regional dispatch improvements. However, it is reasonable to evaluate scenarios with greatly enhanced coordination across the West. A key challenge will be evaluating impacts of greater regional adoption of PV throughout the entire Western Interconnection (in particular, in Arizona and Nevada), which represents a large fraction of the potential export capacity from California. Because we do not simulate the generation and demands of states outside California, we examine the sensitivity of PV curtailment and net LCOE to various export assumptions.

In allowing exports, a key question is whether or not exported PV from California can be counted toward meeting the percent generation from PV in California. California currently allows up to 10% of its RPS (after 2016) to be met with unbundled renewable energy credits (CPUC 2011). Given the uncertainty about the regulatory process and establishing which renewable generators might have already been allocated to this limit, we make the conservative assumption that exports from California to neighboring states do not count toward in-state generation. As a result, exports help integrate PV in California in a different manner than reduction of in-state minimum generation levels. For example, in a case with a 10 GW minimum generation level, installed solar capacity of about 34 GW produces an annual energy penetration of about 23.3% with a marginal curtailment of 17.6%. Reducing the minimum generation level by 2.5 GW (to 7.5 GW) with the same PV capacity increases PV penetration to 23.6% and reduces marginal curtailment to 9.6%. Alternatively, keeping the minimum generation level at 10 GW and adding 2.5 of export capacity does not increase the PV penetration, because none of the exported PV generation counts toward California generation. Doing so does however reduce curtailment of PV (to 17.6%, or about the same amount as the minimum generation case). As a result, adding exports shifts the curtailment curves, but each GW of export capacity is less effective than each GW of minimum generation reduction.

This effect is illustrated in Figure 7, which shows curtailment as a function of PV penetration for two cases of increased export capacity. The first case (red lines) adds 5 GW of export capacity to the 10 GW minimum generation scenario, while the second case (green lines) adds 10 GW of export capacity to the 7.5 GW minimum generation scenario. The 5 GW export line is somewhat similar to the 7.5 GW minimum generation case (reducing minimum generation by 2.5 GW), demonstrating the relative effectiveness of the two flexibility options.



Figure 7. Increase in PV penetration resulting from increased exports

3.3 Demand Response and Shiftable load

Low-cost PV will likely increase the use of demand response (DR) through rate structures or contracts that incentivize demand shifting to periods of high solar output. There are two general categories of DR mechanisms. First, price-based DR programs vary the electricity price to encourage changes in electricity use. These include time-of-use pricing (which assigns prices for different blocks of time) and real-time pricing (which varies rates in response to wholesale market prices) (FERC 2015). Second, incentive- or event-based DR programs compensate customers who allow program administrators to control certain electricity-consuming equipment directly and/or reduce their electricity demand upon request, such as during grid emergencies (Ma et al. 2013).

Demand response can help integrate PV and reduce curtailment in multiple ways, including by reducing dependence on partially loaded synchronous generators for frequency stability and operating reserves. Several U.S. regions already derive significant resource adequacy capacity and operating reserves from DR (FERC 2015). More important for avoiding PV curtailment is the use of DR to shift load to periods of high solar output. Additional discussion of the changes needed to retail rate structures and other regulatory reforms needed to increase consumer participation in DR programs is provided by CPUC (2015a) and Cappers, MacDonald, and Goldman (2013).

To provide context for the potential role of DR under high-PV scenarios, Figure 8 shows hourly curtailment in a scenario with enough PV to satisfy 50% of annual demand (requiring about 80 GW of PV capacity) with a 7.5 GW system minimum generation level and 5 GW of export capacity. Curtailments peak in the spring and are relatively limited from mid-June to mid-September, largely because this is the period of highest load.



Figure 8. Hourly curtailment in a system with enough PV to achieve 50% PV with a 7.5 GW system minimum generation level and a 5 GW export capacity

17

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

To model the opportunity for load shifting, we must quantify the ability to reduce demand in periods of low solar output and increase demand in periods of high solar output. To estimate load shifting potential in California, we use two assessments of DR potential in the western United States. The first, performed by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory (LBNL), estimates shifting of 13 classes of loads primarily in residential and commercial buildings, but it also includes certain industrial "non-manufacturing" loads such as municipal and agricultural water pumping loads (Olsen et al. 2013). The second, performed by Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL), estimates shifting potential for certain industrial manufacturing applications (Starke, Alkadi, and Ma 2013). The two studies estimate the "projected" availability of DR using filters that estimate acceptability and controllability of various loads. In the base case assessments, using estimated "current" levels of consumer acceptability for demand response, the LBNL study identifies an average of 248 MW of potential load reduction in California with a peak of 964 MW, while the ORNL study identifies the potential for an average of 95 MW of load reduction with a peak of 145 MW.²²

Both studies also provide a higher "technical potential" estimate for load reduction. The LBNL estimate averages about 2,100 MW of potential load reduction in each hour with a peak of about 8,500 MW. The ORNL study estimates an average of about 450 MW and a peak load reduction of about 650 MW. The LBNL and ORNL data were also used to estimate the hourly "headroom" or ability to increase demand.²³ Of the hourly load reduction potential, less than half of the reduction in load is assumed to be able to be shifted over multiple hours. As a result, even using the full technical potential from these studies, the amount of shiftable loads during periods of high solar curtailment (in the spring) is relatively low. Most load shifting potential is assumed to be driven by heating and cooling demands, which are lowest in the spring.

Figure 9 shows the estimated hourly load reduction potential from the LBNL DR assessment (Olsen et al. 2013) for two days in the spring and summer. Each figure shows the total load as well as the load evaluated by the LBNL study. The large amount of load that was not evaluated includes residential lighting, manufacturing, and all "plug" loads including appliances, computers, etc. Of the load that was evaluated, only a relatively small amount is assumed to be shiftable, as indicated by the green area. Figure 10 adds the ORNL estimates and translates the results into the fraction of daily load that can be shifted. The top curve is the estimated hourly shiftable demand divided by the hourly load. The bottom curve applies the additional filter that considers the limits to multiple hours of shifting. Only a relatively small fraction of load can be shifted using the technical potential estimates, particularly during non-summer periods. Based on these assumptions, during days of high curtailment in the spring (March 1–June 1), on average only about 2% of demand is assumed to be shiftable.

²² The LBNL projected availability is similar to the existing demand resource availability in California. The three investor-owned utilities in the CAISO territory can shift up to about 1.3% of peak demand (as much as about 900 MW during periods of peak demand) via "price response" DR programs (CPUC 2015b).

²³ Most DR research to date has focused on evaluating potential for load shedding, as opposed to increased loads, which will require new smart-grid technologies (e.g., programmable communicating thermostats) that will allow devices to increase load during periods of PV curtailment. Estimates for headroom are not provided by the LBNL or ORNL data sets; DR headroom values were derived by subtracting the actual load in each hour from the maximum annual load for each load type. The accuracy of this approach is unknown.



Figure 9. Load reduction potential in the LBNL technical potential resource data set



Figure 10. Fraction of total hourly and daily load that can be shifted using the LBNL and ORNL technical potential

To estimate the curtailment reduction possible with these DR assumptions, we incorporate the energy-shifting and headroom estimates into the REFlex model following methods described in Hummon et al. (2013b) and assuming load is shifted with 100% efficiency.²⁴

Figure 11 shows the marginal curtailment as a function of PV for the two minimum generation level and export levels evaluated in the previous section with and without DR. Adding DR shifts the curtailment curves by as much as about two percentage points. Thus, additional strategies are needed to shift supply/demand coincidence further and integrate 50% PV. A number of load-shifting opportunities are not analyzed here, including the large fraction of demand not evaluated

²⁴ Compensation for load shifting will likely require new market mechanisms (Hogan and Paulos 2014).

in the LBNL and ORNL studies as well as new demand sources that could be flexible; these include electrification of thermal demand such as water heating and industrial processes.



Figure 11. Impact of added DR on marginal curtailment in scenarios with 20%–40% annual PV penetration with two minimum generation level and export capacity scenarios

3.4 Additional Load from Electric Vehicles

Electric vehicles (EVs), including plug-in hybrid EVs and battery EVs are a potentially significant new source of flexible load. Previous analysis has demonstrated that EVs can provide a significant source of load flexibility for integrating PV (Denholm, Kuss, and Margolis 2013). The ability of EVs to integrate PV and the amount of flexible load added by EVs will depend on several factors, including the:

- 1. Added electricity demand per EV, which includes each EV's daily distance traveled and electrical efficiency (kWh/mile)
- 2. Load profile and controllability of EV charging
- 3. Total number of EVs.

Because of the uncertainty surrounding potential EV deployment, we simplify the analysis by assuming a fixed demand per vehicle of 12.1 kWh/day. This assumes the average EV will travel 57 km (35.4 miles) per day, and the fleet average efficiency is 0.21 kWh/km (0.34 kWh/mile) based on the mix of California vehicles and driving patterns in 2013 (DOT 2014) as well as estimates of EV efficiency (EPA 2016). We do not assume any "vehicle-to-grid" capability where vehicles can discharge the batteries to provide grid services (Tomić and Kempton 2007).

The load profile and charging controllability of EV are based on multiple factors, including vehicle driving patterns, charging availability, rate structures, and the size of the vehicle battery.

In our analysis, we explore the potential impact of three different charging strategies on PV curtailment:

- 1. "At home charging," which assumes that vehicle charging only occurs at the end of the day when the vehicle is at home
- 2. "Opportunity charging," which assumes that vehicle charging begins whenever the vehicle arrives at its destination, and assumes widespread availability of charging stations
- 3. "Optimized charging," which assumes that vehicle charging uses as much PV output as possible that would otherwise be curtailed.

Figure 12 shows the profiles (derived from Brinkman et al. 2016) for the "opportunity" and "at home" scenarios (fraction of EV charging in each hour under the two scenarios). The figure also shows the average daily PV output (fraction of energy generated in each hour). The "at home" uncontrolled charging pattern would substantially decrease PV's ability to meet load, because the additional load would occur almost entirely at night.²⁵ The "opportunity" charging scenario is better for integrating PV, with about half of the demand occurring during periods of significant PV output. However, under this scenario, peak charging demand occurs in the early evening when PV output is declining rapidly. If charging could be optimized, a large fraction of the added EV demand could be shifted to periods of high PV output and use otherwise curtailed energy.



Figure 12. EV load profiles associated with uncontrolled charging and average PV output profile

To examine the impact of the size of the EV fleet and the amount of optimized charging, we added EV demand to the REFlex model. During each day, the model must provide 12.1 kWh of additional demand per vehicle, using a predetermined combination of the fixed profiles or

²⁵ This pattern could, however, be useful for wind integration.

optimizing charging by timing demand to periods of lowest net load. We limit the instantaneous power consumption of the average EV to 6.5 kW, which assumes a mix of charging circuits.²⁶

Figure 13 shows the impact of different charging profiles on the load in a 10% EV scenario, in which 2.6 million light-duty vehicles are electrified; this figure assumes 100% of the charging would occur with one of the three profiles. The non-optimized charging profiles simply add the profiles from Figure 12 to the normal load. The optimized charging profile is the output from the model, optimized against a scenario with enough PV to meet 50% of total (normal plus EV) demand (without curtailment or storage losses).



Figure 13. Impact of charging on load in a scenario with 10% EVs and three different charging profiles on April 1

Because of their different charging patterns, EVs can have varying impacts on PV integration and curtailment. Figure 14, which assumes a 7.5 GW minimum generation level and full DR availability, shows the impact of different EV charging patterns on PV curtailment. The "base" curve assumes no EVs. To illustrate bounding cases, we then add a 25% EV scenario (6.4 million electric vehicles)²⁷ with the assumption that all vehicles charge with one of the three charging assumptions. The case with only at-home charging shifts the curtailment curve to the left, increasing PV curtailment and making it more difficult to integrate PV. As the fraction of optimized charging increases, curtailment rates drop, enabling higher PV penetration.

 $^{^{26}}$ This mix is 40% 120V/15A, 40% 240 V/20A, and 20% 480V/40A. This limit was not a binding constraint. The maximum demand in the 100% optimized charging scenario was typically less than 4 kW/vehicle.

²⁷ This results in up to 6.2 GW of added demand in the all-opportunity charging case, 8.9 GW in the all-optimized case, and 19.6 GW in the all-optimized charging case. In the optimized charging case, the additional load always occurs during periods of lowest net demand, so the added load, while significant, never increases the peak demand of the system. For a discussion of the relationship between PV generation, EV charging and peak demand patterns, see Denholm et al. (2013).



Figure 14. Impact of EV charging flexibility on PV penetration and curtailment in a 25% EV scenario with a 7.5 GW minimum generation level, 10 GW export capacity, and full DR availability

As Figure 14 illustrates, it is not possible to state definitely that EVs will help integrate PV and reduce storage requirements. However, the availability of low-cost midday PV electricity likely would incentivize optimally timed charging and widespread charging station availability. With a large fraction of optimized charging, the 25% EV scenario provides a substantial benefit. In the following section, we develop a set of scenarios combining EV charging, along with reduced minimum generation levels and increased DR to determine the total storage required to achieve 50% PV.

4 Energy Storage Scenarios

The quantity of energy storage needed to meet renewable energy or low-carbon policy goals will be a function of many parameters, including the amount of the four grid-flexibility options discussed above (as well as other options not considered here), desired PV penetration, and the acceptable curtailment level. To explore the range of options, we establish three scenarios combining the range of flexibility options shown in Table 2. The low-flexibility scenario requires only limited changes in fundamental grid flexibility, rate structures, or demand patterns. The biggest change in this scenario is a reduced minimum generation level, which would be accomplished largely by changing institutional barriers to ramping generators. The mid-flexibility scenario adds additional generator flexibility, exports, DR, and significant EV deployment. The high-flexibility scenario uses the full DR potential described in Section 3.2 and most of the physical transmission capacity that exists between California and surrounding states. It also represents significant electrification of the vehicle fleet (25% of all vehicles), with ubiquitous charging stations available to maximize midday charging. This additional load (from 6.4 million vehicles) is about 28.2 TWh, which would increase California electricity demand by about 9%.

	Low Flexibility	Mid Flexibility	High Flexibility
Minimum generation level (GW)	10	8.75	7.5
Export capacity (GW)	2.5	5	10
DR availability (GW peak/avg. daily GWh) ^a	0.4/22	2/10	4/21
EV penetration (% of California light-duty vehicles)	5%	15%	25%
EV charging profile (optimized- opportunity—at home)	33%-33%-33%	50%-25%-25%	75%-15%-10%

Table 2. Characteristics of Flexibility Scenarios

^a These values represent the peak and average shiftable load during months of highest PV curtailment (March–May), with the high-flexibility scenario using the full LBNL technical potential, which assumes about 2% of the average daily demand is shiftable.

For each scenario, we calculate marginal curtailment and net LCOE for different levels of PV penetration with additional storage. We assume all additional storage has eight hours of usable capacity, which would allow the added storage to replace new peaking capacity.²⁸ We also assume roundtrip efficiency is 80% (so 20% of energy placed into storage is lost) and is optimized by the system operator to provide maximum benefits to the system as a whole. This critical assumption would require optimization either (1) directly by a system operator in the case of utility-scale storage or (2) indirectly through real-time pricing or other mechanisms that would optimize behind-the-meter storage. This in turn would require new rules to optimize utility-scale and behind-the-meter storage (Koritarov et al. 2014; Sioshansi, Denholm, and Jenkin 2012).

²⁸ By usable capacity, we mean the battery can discharge at rated capacity for eight hours, so a 1 MW battery would be able to store eight MWh of usable energy. For many battery types, this would require more than eight hours of physical capacity, as they are typically operated at less than 100% of full capacity to preserve battery life (Neubauer and Simpson 2015).

Market changes proposed or underway will address some, but not all, of the limitations in how storage can help integrate variable generation.

Figure 15 summarizes marginal curtailment as a function of PV penetration for each flexibility scenario. Each curve within the separate scenarios represents a different amount of storage, ranging from the base storage capacity of 4.4 GW to 30 GW. Figure 15a demonstrates that 30 GW of storage and low flexibility result in marginal curtailment exceeding 60% at 50% PV. Curtailment decreases substantially as flexibility and storage increase. Each curve shows a lower limit to marginal curtailment independent of the amount of storage added, because we count storage losses as curtailment. At lower levels of flexibility, more PV energy must be cycled through storage. In the low-flexibility scenario, for example, when PV reaches 30% penetration, about 60% of the incremental PV is placed into storage and about 40% is used directly. This means the marginal curtailment is 20% of 60%, or about 12%. As flexibility increases, less PV energy must be cycled through storage, which lowers this minimum curtailment level.

In the mid-flexibility scenario (Figure 15b), with 50% PV penetration and 30 GW of storage, the marginal curtailment rate drops below 40%. The high-flexibility scenario (Figure 15c) with 30 GW of storage achieves 50% PV at marginal curtailment approaching 20%.



(a) Low flexibility



(c) High flexibility



The marginal net LCOE for PV can be calculated from these figures by multiplying the base LCOE by 1/(1-marginal curtailment rate), as discussed above. However, evaluating the amount of energy storage required to achieve 50% PV penetration requires comparing the marginal net LCOE with a target LCOE. Figure 16 translates the results from Figure 15 into marginal net LCOEs as a function of storage capacity for each flexibility scenario as well as two "base" PV costs: 6 cents/kWh and 3 cents/kWh. Figure 16 also shows a line at 7 cents/kWh, which we previously used as a target net LCOE (approximating the variable cost of a future combined-cycle gas turbines, including carbon costs). Achieving 50% PV appears to require a combination

of lower-cost PV, aggressive flexibility measures, and substantial storage. Achieving the 50% goal would require roughly 19 GW of storage under this case. For very low cost PV with a less flexible system, reaching 50% PV penetration could require 25–30 GW of storage.



Figure 16. Marginal net LCOE as a function of energy storage capacity at 50% PV penetration for each flexibility scenario and two "base" PV costs: 6 cents/kWh and 3 cents/kWh

Figure 17 examines the 50% PV case in detail, focusing on the relationship between base PV LCOE and storage requirements. In this figure, the amount of storage needed is examined as a function of base PV LCOE, using the target of 7 cents/kWh for the net LCOE. This figure illustrates that both grid flexibility and low-cost PV appear critical to reducing storage requirements.



Figure 17. Energy storage required to achieve a marginal net PV LCOE of 7 cents/kWh as a function of base PV LCOE at 50% PV penetration and three levels of grid flexibility

The energy storage values shown previously include existing storage, as well as storage expected by 2020 as part of the California storage mandate. Figure 18 shows the amount of additional storage that would be needed to achieve the 7 cents/kWh net-LCOE target. It includes the capacity needed for both 40% PV and 50% PV. The top bar is the high flexibility case with the low (3 cents/kWh) base cost for PV. With this highly flexible system, the storage that will be installed by 2020 is sufficient to support 40% PV. To achieve 50% PV would require about 15 GW of additional storage capacity to be built by 2030. We also consider cases where we change two of the more aggressive flexibility assumptions. The second bar reduces the EV penetration from 25% to 5% (or reaching a total EV fleet of 1.3 million vehicles in California by 2030). The third modifies the base case by increasing the base PV LCOE to 5 cents/kWh, which assumes only modest reductions in PV costs beyond those expected by 2020. Finally, we combine both of these reduced flexibility cases. As a result, if California can substantially increase grid operational flexibility, but not achieve either wide-scale deployment of EVs, or a substantially decreased PV cost, about 10 GW of new storage capacity would be required to achieve 40% PV, or about 28 GW of new storage to achieve 50% PV.



Figure 18. Additional energy storage needed to achieve a marginal PV net LCOE of 7 cents/kWh for the high flexibility case and three reduced flexibility cases

Based on these assumptions, a 50% PV scenario would achieve 66% to 68% from qualifying renewables depending on the EV penetration scenario as discussed in Section 4. Adding existing large hydro would result in greater than 70% generation from low-carbon sources in California. The rapidly increasing amount of storage needed at penetrations beyond 40% PV suggests the need to examine both the feasibility of large-scale energy storage deployment and the optimal mix of low-carbon generation resources. For example, the last unit of PV needed to achieve 50% in the high-flexibility case with 19 GW of storage has a curtailment rate of about 58%. Alternatively, replacing this last unit of PV with wind produces a marginal wind curtailment rate of about 20%, implying a more balanced mix of resources may produce a lower overall system cost.

5 Discussion and Conclusions

In this analysis, we quantify the energy storage required to satisfy up to 50% of California's electricity demand with solar photovoltaic (PV) technology. This scenario results in penetration of low-carbon resources exceeding 70%. While exploring very high levels of PV penetration, we clarify the complex interdependence of a range of grid flexibility options. We start by examining non-storage grid-flexibility options, including reduced minimum generation levels, increased export capacity, and expanded demand response. We then add additional load from electric vehicles with a range of charging strategies. Finally, we estimate the amount of storage required to achieve very high penetration of PV in a set of low, mid and high grid-flexibility scenarios.

We estimate that with very low-cost PV (i.e., with a base-LCOE at 3 cents/kWh), 19 GW of storage would be required (or about 15 GW of new storage beyond what is expected by 2020) to achieve 50% PV penetration in California for the high-flexibility scenario. This scenario assumes the ability to turn off nearly all thermal generation for a few hours on a daily basis throughout the year. Such grid flexibility is well beyond levels typically contemplated in traditional utility planning and integration studies. It also assumes a significant increase in demand response and electrification of personal transport in order to minimize the need for energy storage. We find that vehicle electrification in particular—along with optimization of EV charging—could provide flexible demand to absorb large midday spikes of PV generation. Even in such a scenario, however, high PV curtailment likely would occur during many sunny spring days, which would require new rules for curtailment allocation across the fleet of wind and PV generators, potentially including distributed or rooftop PV systems (Bird, Cochran, and Wang 2014).

At greater than 15 GW of additional capacity, the amount of new storage required to support 50% PV in California is significant. However, such levels of storage might fit within a least-cost framework driven by declining storage costs and increasing value due to high PV penetration. System capacity—not support of PV or other generators—is the largest source of value from long-duration storage (Denholm et al. 2013). Although gas turbines generally have provided a lower-cost alternative to the long-duration storage needed to reliably meet peak demand, high PV penetration narrows the peak-demand period and reduces the storage duration required to achieve full capacity credit (Sioshansi, Madaeni, and Denholm 2014; Jorgenson et al. 2014). At the same time, the increasing value of storage at high PV penetration could make batteries, at projected future costs, competitive with combustion turbines (Denholm et al. 2015; Nykvist and Nilsson 2015).²⁹ In 2014, California had about 22 GW of fossil-fueled peaking capacity, 14 GW of which is more than 25 years old.³⁰ As this capacity retires, cost-competitive energy storage might be able to replace much of it, further enabling greater PV penetration.

²⁹ A direct comparison of batteries and conventional generation assets must consider that batteries typically have much shorter lives and degrade as a function of use. Therefore, complete life-cycle cost analysis is needed, as opposed to a simple comparison of upfront capital costs. The analysis is complicated by the need to consider potential additional benefits of storage, such as avoided distribution system capacity and losses.

³⁰ This number (14 GW) was derived from the EIA-861 database for 2014. It is the sum of internal combustion, steam, or gas turbine capacity (not combined cycle) that is not associated with a commercial or industrial facility.

Our analysis has a number of limitations that could be addressed through further research. We focus on the technical characteristics of storage and flexibility options as well as net PV costs, but the full economics of high-penetration scenarios must also be analyzed. Quantifying the costbenefit tradeoffs among the energy system's various components would suggest which combinations of options are most appropriate at each step along the PV growth path.

Considering additional sources of flexibility is another important direction for research. The literature on DR and fuel switching evaluates only a fraction of existing loads. Thus, additional work is needed to consider the full potential for load shifting and fuel switching. For example, additional sources of demand flexibility could help integrate PV, particularly during seasons with low space cooling and heating demand. These include electric domestic water heating and combustion-based water heating converted to electricity or dual-fuel functionality. Importantly, if such fuel switching included schedulable loads it could be deployed to maximize the use of curtailed solar (or wind) energy and avoid any net negative impact, which is similar to what we observed in our analysis of EV charging. Other potential fuel-switching applications include industrial process heating loads, which could use electricity during periods of curtailed energy and then switch to other fuels during periods of higher electricity demand. Additional analysis should also consider new load shapes that may arise as appliances and the building stock evolve.

Although we focus on the interaction of electricity storage and PV in this analysis, concentrating solar power (CSP) with thermal energy storage could provide another source of flexibility to help integrate high levels of PV penetration. In areas with appropriate solar resource, CSP could play a synergistic role with PV. CSP's ability to integrate relatively low-cost and high-efficiency thermal storage could provide a source of dispatchable energy that becomes increasingly valuable at high levels of PV penetration (Mehos et al. 2016).

We set out to identify the challenges associated with achieving 50% PV penetration in California. We found we could minimize the storage requirements to get to 50% PV penetration through a combination of flexibility options. Along the way, however, we identified a highly non-linear increase in PV integration challenges, even under increasing system flexibility. Given the relative costs of different generation technologies such as wind, under some scenarios, in some regions, it will likely be more cost effective to deploy less than 50% PV in favor of other low-carbon generation technologies. Taking into account regional resource quality, system flexibility, and demand patterns will be critical in developing regionally specific low-cost balanced low-carbon generation portfolios.

References

Bird, L., J Cochran, and X. Wang. 2014 *Wind and Solar Energy Curtailment: Experience and Practices in the United States*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-60983. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/60983.pdf</u>.

Bouillon, B. 2014. Prepared Statement of Brad Bouillon on behalf of the California Independent System Operator Corporation UNITED STATES OF AMERICA BEFORE THE FEDERAL ENERGY REGULATORY COMMISSION Reliability Technical Conference Docket No. AD14-9-000. <u>http://www.ferc.gov/CalendarFiles/20140610083142-Bouillon,%20CAISO.pdf</u>.

Brinkman, G., J. Jorgenson, A. Ehlen, and J. H. Caldwell. 2016. *California 2030 Low Carbon Grid Study: Analysis of a 50% Emission Reduction in California*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-64884. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/64884.pdf.

CAISO (California Independent System Operator). 2011. Summary of Preliminary Results of 33% Renewable Integration Study—2010 CPUC LTPP Docket No. R.10-05-006. Folsom, CA. Accessed May 2, 2014:

https://www.caiso.com/Documents/Summary_PreliminaryResults_33PercentRenewableIntegrationStudy_2010CPUCLongTermProcurementPlanDocketNo_R_10-05-006.pdf

——. 2013. *What the Duck Curve Tells Us About Managing a Green Grid*. Folsom, CAL CAISO. <u>https://www.caiso.com/Documents/FlexibleResourcesHelpRenewables_FastFacts.pdf</u>

———. 2014. Phase I.A. *Direct Testimony of Dr. Shucheng Liu on Behalf of the California Independent System Operator Corporation, CPUC R.13-12-010.* <u>http://www.caiso.com/Documents/Aug13_2014_InitialTestimony_ShuchengLiu_Phase1A_LTP</u> <u>P_R13-12-010.pdf</u>.

. 2015. 2015 Summer Loads and Resources Assessment. https://www.caiso.com/Documents/2015SummerAssessment.pdf.

Cappers, P., J. MacDonald, and C. A. Goldman. 2013. *Market and Policy Barriers for Demand Response Providing Ancillary Services in U.S. Markets*. Berkeley, CA: Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. LBNL-6155E. <u>http://eetd.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/lbnl-6155e.pdf</u>.

CEC (California Energy Commission). 2014. California electricity statistics and data. Sacramento, CA. Accessed January 30, 2014: http://energyalmanac.ca.gov/electricity/system power/2014 total system power.html.

_____. 2015. "Historical California Electricity Demand." Sacramento, CA. Accessed December 30, 2014: <u>http://energyalmanac.ca.gov/electricity/historic_peak_demand.html</u>

Cochran, J., M. Miller, O. Zinaman, M. Milligan, D. Arent, B. Palmintier, M. O'Malley, S. Mueller, E. Lannoye. A. Tuohy, B. Kujala, M. Sommer, H. Holttinen, J. Kiviluoma, S. K. Soonee. 2014. *Flexibility in 21st Century Power Systems*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. 21st Century Power Partnership. NREL/TP-6A20-61721. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/61721.pdf.

Cochran, J., P. Denholm, B. Speer, and M. Miller. 2015. *Grid Integration and the Carrying Capacity of the U.S. Grid to Incorporate Variable Renewable Energy*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-62607. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy15osti/62607.pdf.

CPUC (California Public Utilities Commission). 2011. Order Instituting Rulemaking to Continue Implementation and Administration of California Renewables Portfolio Standard Program. http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/WORD_PDF/FINAL_DECISION/156060.PDF.

——. 2013. California Public Utilities Commission Decision 13-10-040, *Decision Adopting Energy Storage Procurement Framework and Design Program*. October 17, 2013. http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M079/K533/79533378.PDF

———. 2014a. 2015 Filing Guide for System, Local and Flexible Resource Adequacy (RA) Compliance Filings. Issued September 9, 2014

———. 2015a. Beyond 33% Renewables: Grid Integration Policy for a Low-Carbon Future: A CPUC Staff White Paper.

———. 2015b. "Demand Response Monthly Reports." Accessed December 2015. http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/general.aspx?id=6299

Denholm, P., K. Clark, and M. O'Connell. 2016. On the Path to SunShot: Emerging Issues and Challenges in Integrating High Levels of Solar into the Electrical Generation and Transmission System. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-65800. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65800.pdf.

Denholm, P., V. Diakov, and R. Margolis. 2015. *The Relative Economic Merits of Storage and Combustion Turbines for Meeting Peak Capacity Requirements under Increased Penetration of Solar Photovoltaics*. NREL/TP-6A20-64841. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy15osti/64841.pdf</u>.

Denholm, P., J. Jorgenson, M. Hummon, T. Jenkin, B. Kirby, O. Ma, M. O'Malley, and D. Palchak. 2013. *Value of Energy Storage for Grid Applications*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-58465. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy13osti/58465.pdf.

Denholm, P., M. Kuss, and R. M. Margolis. 2013. "Co-Benefits of Large Scale Plug-In Hybrid Electric Vehicle and Solar PV Deployment." *Journal of Power Sources* 236:350–356.

Denholm, P., and M. Hand. 2011. "Grid Flexibility and Storage Required to Achieve Very High Penetration of Variable Renewable Electricity." *Energy Policy* 39:1817–1830.

Denholm, P., and M. Mehos. 2011. *Enabling Greater Penetration of Solar Power via the Use of Thermal Energy Storage*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-52978. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy12osti/52978.pdf</u>.

Denholm, P., and R. M. Margolis. 2007. "Evaluating the Limits of Solar Photovoltaics (PV) in Electric Power Systems Utilizing Energy Storage and Other Enabling Technologies." *Energy Policy* 35:4424–4433.

DOE (U.S. Department of Energy). 2012. *SunShot Vision Study*. February 2012. SunShot, Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy (EERE) DOE/GO-102012-3037

_____. 2016. On the Path to SunShot: Executive Summary. DOE/EE 1412. http://energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2016/05/f31/OTPSS%20-%20Executive%20Summary-508.pdf.

DOT (U.S. Department of Transportation, Bureau of Transportation Statistics). 2015. State Transportation Statistics 2015. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Transportation. <u>http://www.rita.dot.gov/bts/sites/rita.dot.gov.bts/files/STS_2015.pdf</u>.

E3 (Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc.). 2014. *Investigating a Higher Renewables Portfolio Standard in California*. San Francisco, CA: E3. <u>https://ethree.com/documents/E3 Final RPS Report 2014 01 06 with appendices.pdf</u>.

EIA (U.S. Energy Information Administration). 2015. "Electric Power Annual with Data for 2013." Release Date: March 23, 2015.

—. 2016. Annual Energy Outlook 2015.

Eichman, J., P. Denholm, J. Jorgenson, and U. Helman. 2015. *Operational Benefits of Meeting California's Energy Storage Targets*. NREL/TP- 5400-65061. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65061.pdf</u>

Ela, E., M. Milligan, A. Bloom, A. Botterud, A. Townsend, and T. Levin. 2014. *Evolution of Wholesale Electricity Market Design with Increasing Levels of Renewable Generation*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-5D00-61765. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/61765.pdf.

EPA (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). 2015. *Social Cost of Carbon*. <u>http://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/EPAactivities/social-cost-carbon.pdf</u>.

———. 2016. *Light-Duty Automotive Technology, Carbon Dioxide Emissions, and Fuel Economy Trends: 1975 through 2015.* EPA-420-R-15-016. https://www3.epa.gov/fueleconomy/fetrends/1975-2015/420r15016.pdf.

FERC (Federal Energy Regulatory Commission). 2012. *Integration of Variable Energy Resources.* 18 CFR Part 35, Docket No. RM10-11-000, Order No. 764. Washington, D.C.: Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. <u>http://www.ferc.gov/whats-new/comm-</u> <u>meet/2012/062112/E-3.pdf</u>. ——. 2015. *Assessment of Demand Response and Advanced Metering*. Washington, D.C.: Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

——. 2014. Western Wind and Solar Integration Study Phase 3: Frequency Response and Transient Stability. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/SR-5D00-62906. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy15osti/62906.pdf</u>.

Gevorgian, V., and B. O'Neill. 2016. Advanced Grid-Friendly Controls Demonstration Project for Utility-Scale PV Power Plants. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-5D00-65368. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65368.pdf</u>.

Gilman, P., N. Blair, M. Mehos, C. Christensen, S. Janzou, and C. Cameron. 2008. *Solar Advisor Model User Guide for Version 2.0*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-670-43704. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy08osti/43704.pdf</u>.

GTM Research, and SEIA (Solar Energy Industries Association). U.S. Solar Market Insight Q2 2015. September 2015.

Hogan, M., and B. Paulos. "Dealing with The Duck: Designing Markets to Accommodate Variable Resources." Fortnightly Magazine, January 2014. Public Utilities Fortnightly. <u>http://www.fortnightly.com/fortnightly/2014/01/dealing-duck</u>.

Hummon, M., P. Denholm, J. Jorgenson, D. Palchak, B. Kirby, and O. Ma. 2013a. *Fundamental Drivers of the Cost and Price of Operating Reserves*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-58491. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy13osti/58491.pdf</u>.

Hummon, M., D. Palchak, P. Denholm, J. Jorgenson, D. J. Olsen, S. Kiliccote, N. Matson, M. Sohn, C. Rose, J. Dudley, S. Goli, and O. Ma. 2013b. *Grid Integration of Aggregated Demand Response, Part 2: Modeling Demand Response in a Production Cost Model.* Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-58492. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/58492.pdf.

IEA (International Energy Agency). 2014. *The Power of Transformation: Wind, Sun and the Economics of Flexible Power Systems*. Paris, France: International Energy Agency.

Jorgenson, J., P. Denholm, and M. Mehos. 2014. *Estimating the Value of Utility-Scale Solar Technologies in California under a 40% Renewable Portfolio Standard*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-61685. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/61685.pdf.

Koritarov, V., T. D. Veselka, J. Gasper, B. M. Bethke, A. Botterud, J. Wang, M. Mahalik, Z. Zhou, C. Milostan, J. Feltes, Y. Kazachkov, T. Guo, G. Liu, B. Trouille, P. Donalek, K. King, E. Ela, B. Kirby, I. Krad, and V. Gevorgian. 2014. *Modeling and Analysis of Value of Advanced Pumped Storage Hydropower in the United States*. ANL/DIS-14/7. Argonne, IL: Argonne National Laboratory. <u>http://www.ipd.anl.gov/anlpubs/2014/07/105786.pdf</u>.

Kundur, P., J. Paserba, V. Ajjarapu, G. Andersson, A. Bose, C. Canizares, N. Hatziargyriou, D. Hill, A. Stankovic, C. Taylor, T. Van Cutsem, and V. Vittal. 2004. "Definition and Classification of Power System Stability." *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems* 19(2): 1387–1401.

Lew, D., G. Brinkman, E. Ibanez, A. Florita, M. Heaney, B.-M. Hodge, M. Hummon, G. Stark, J. King, S. A. Lefton, N. Kumar, D. Agan, G. Jordan, and S. Venkataraman. 2013. *The Western Wind and Solar Integration Study: Phase 2*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-5500-55588. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy13osti/55588.pdf</u>.

Lew, D., M. Schroder, N. Miller, and M. Lecar. 2015. *Integrating Higher Levels of Variable Energy Resources in California*. Schenectady, NY: GE Energy Consulting. <u>http://www.largescalesolar.org/files/Final-CA-VER-Integration-6-15-15.pdf</u>.

Liu, S. 2014. *Phase 1.A. Direct testimony of Dr. Shucheng Liu on behalf of the California Independent System Operator Corporation*. Proceeding R.13-12-010, August 13. San Francisco, CA: California Public Utilities Commission. <u>http://www.caiso.com/Documents/Aug13_2014_InitialTestimony_ShuchengLiu_Phase1A_LTP</u> <u>P_R13-12-010.pdf</u>.

Ma, O., N. Alkadi, P. Cappers, P. Denholm, J. Dudley, S. Goli, M. Hummon, S. Kiliccote, J. MacDonald, N. Matson, D. Olsen, C. Rose, M. D. Sohn, M. Starke, B. Kirby, and M. O'Malley. 2013. "Demand Response for Ancillary Services." *IEEE Transactions on Smart Grid* 4(4):1988–1995.

MacDonald, A. E., Clack, C. T., Alexander, A., Dunbar, A., Wilczak, J., and Xie, Y. 2016. "Future Cost-Competitive Electricity Systems and their Impact on US CO2 Emissions." *Nature Climate Change* (6):526–531.

Mehos, M., C. Ho, J. Jorgenson, C. Turchi, P. Denholm, and K. Armijo. 2016. *On the Path to SunShot: Advancing Concentrating Solar Power Technology, Performance, and Dispatchability.* Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-5500-65688. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65688.pdf</u>.

Milligan, M., B. Frew, B. Kirby, M. Schuerger, K. Clark, D. Lew, P. Denholm, B. Zavadil, M. O'Malley, and B. Tsuchida. 2015 "Alternatives No More: Wind and Solar Power Are Mainstays of a Clean, Reliable, Affordable Grid." *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine* 13(6): 78–87.

Mills, A., and R. Wiser. 2012a. *Changes in the Economic Value of Variable Generation at High Penetration Levels: A Pilot Case Study of California*. Berkeley, CA: Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. LBNL-5445E. <u>http://emp.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/lbnl-5445e.pdf</u>.

Mills, A., and R. Wiser. 2012b. *An Evaluation of Solar Valuation Methods Used in Utility Planning and Procurement Processes*. Berkeley, CA: Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. LBNL-5933E. <u>http://emp.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/lbnl-5933e_0.pdf</u>.

Mills, A. D., and R. H. Wiser. "Strategies to Mitigate Declines in the Economic Value of Wind and Solar at High Penetration in California." *Applied Energy* 147(2015):269–278.

Nelson, J. H., and L. M. Wisland. 2015. *Achieving 50 Percent Renewable Electricity in California: The Role of Non-Fossil Flexibility in a Cleaner Electricity Grid*. Union of Concerned Scientists. <u>http://www.ucsusa.org/sites/default/files/attach/2015/08/Achieving-50-Percent-Renewable-Electricity-In-California.pdf</u>.

Neubauer, J., and M. Simpson. 2015. *Deployment of Behind-the-Meter Energy Storage for Demand Charge Reduction*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-5400-63162. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy15osti/63162.pdf</u>.

NREL (National Renewable Energy Laboratory). 2012. *Renewable Electricity Futures Study*. NREL/TP-6A20-52409.

Nykvist, B., and M. Nilsson. 2015. "Rapidly Falling Costs of Battery Packs for Electric Vehicles." *Nature Climate Change* 5:329–332.

Olsen, D. J., N. Matson, M. D. Sohn, C. Rose, J. Dudley, S. Goli, S. Kilicote, M. Hummon, D. Palchak, P. Denholm, J. Jorgenson, and O. Ma 2013. *Grid Integration of Aggregated Demand Response, Part 1: Load Availability Profiles and Constraints for the Western Interconnection*. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. LBNL-6417E. http://eetd.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/lbnl-6417e.pdf.

Palmintier, B., R. Broderick, B. Mather, and M. Coddington. 2016. *On the Path to Sunshot: Emerging Issues and Challenges in Integrating Solar with the Distribution System*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-5D00-65331. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65331.pdf</u>.

PGE (Pacific Gas and Electric Company). 2016. In Step With California's Evolving Energy Policy, PG&E, Labor and Environmental Groups Announce Proposal to Increase Energy Efficiency, Renewables and Storage While Phasing Out Nuclear Power Over the Next Decade. http://www.pge.com/en/about/newsroom/newsdetails/index.page?title=20160621_in_step_with_californias_evolving_energy_policy_pge_labor_and_environmental_groups_announce_proposal_to_increase_energy_efficiency_renewables_and_storage_while_phasing_out_nuclear_power_over_the_next_decade.

Safaei, H., and Keith, D. 2015. "How Much Bulk Storage is Needed to Decarbonize Electricity?" *Energy and Environmental Science* (12):3409–3417. DOI: 10.1039/c5ee01452b.

Sioshansi, R., P. Denholm, P., and T. Jenkin. 2012. "Market and Policy Barriers to Deployment of Energy Storage." *Economics of Energy and Environmental Policy* 1(2):47–63.

Sioshansi, R., S. H. Madaeni, and P. Denholm. 2014 "A Dynamic Programming Approach to Estimate the Capacity Value of Energy Storage." *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems* 29(1) 395–403.

Solomon, A. A., D. Faiman, and G. Meron. "Appropriate Storage for High-Penetration Grid-Connected Photovoltaic Plants." *Energy Policy* 40(2012):335–344.

Starke, M., N. Alkadi, and O. Ma. 2013. Assessment of Industrial Load for Demand Response across U.S. Regions of the Western Interconnection. Oak Ridge, TN: Oak Ridge National Laboratory. ORNL/TM-2013/407. <u>http://info.ornl.gov/sites/publications/Files/Pub45942.pdf</u>.

Tomić, J., and W. Kempton. 2007. "Using Fleets of Electric-Drive Vehicles for Grid Support." *Journal of Power Sources* 168(2007):459–468.

Tuohy, A., J. Zack, S. E. Haupt, J. Sharp, M. Ahlstrom, S. Dise, E. Grimit, C. Mohrlen, M. Lange, M. Garcia Casado, J. Black, M. Marquis, and C. Collier. 2015. "Solar Forecasting: Methods, Challenges, and Performance." *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine* 13(6):50–59. DOI: 10.1109/MPE.2015.2461351

Venkataraman, S., G Jordan. M. O'Connor, N. Kumar, S. Lefton, D. Lew, G. Brinkman, D. Palchak, and J. Cochran. 2013. *Cost-Benefit Analysis of Flexibility Retrofits for Coal and Gas-Fueled Power Plants: August 2012 – December 2013*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/SR-6A20-60862. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/60862.pdf</u>.

Wärtsilä and Energy Exemplar. 2014. *Incorporating Flexibility in Utility Resource Planning*. Helsinki: Wärtsilä Corporation. <u>http://energyexemplar.com/wp-content/uploads/publications/</u>2014 EnergyExemplar/IOU%20white%20paper%209.7.pdf.

Woodhouse, M., R. Jones-Albertus, D. Feldman, R. Fu, K. Horowitz, D. Chung, D. Jordan, and S. Kurtz. 2016. *On the Path to SunShot: The Role of Advancements in Solar Photovoltaic Efficiency, Reliability, and Costs*. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. NREL/TP-6A20-65464. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65464.pdf</u>.

Wu, J., A. Botterud, A. Mills, X. Zhou, B. Hodge, and M. Heaney. 2015. "Integrating Solar PV (Photovoltaics) in Utility System Operations: Analytical Framework and Arizona Case Study." *Energy* 85(1, June 2015):1–9.